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December 17, 2018

Federal Election Commission
Office of General Counsel
Office of Complaints Examination
   & Legal Administration
attn: Kathryn Ross, Paralegal
1050 First Street, NE
Washington, DC 20002

Re: MUR 7524

Dear Ms. Ross:

This response is submitted by the undersigned counsel on behalf of the following 
Respondents in connection with the above-referenced matter: National Rifle Association of 
America Political Victory Fund (NRA-PVF) and Robert G. Owens in his capacity as Treasurer;
National Rifle Association Institute for Legislative Action (NRA-ILA)1; OnMessage, Inc.; 
Starboard Strategic, Inc.; National Media Research Planning and Placement, LLC (National 
Media), and Jon Ferrell in his capacity as Chief Financial Officer of National Media.

This is the third in a series of harassing complaints filed by the Campaign Legal Center 
and Giffords in conjunction with coordinated media coverage by the anti-NRA outlet The Trace.  
The Respondents have already filed responses in MURs 7427 and 7497.  Those responses are
included here as Attachment F.

In this Complaint, the Campaign Legal Center and Giffords allege that “[t]he NRA-PVF 
and Josh Hawley for Senate appear to have engaged in an elaborate scheme designed to evade 
detection of violations of the Commission’s common vendor coordination rules.”2  The 
Complaints identify OnMessage, Inc. and Starboard Strategic, Inc. as the first common vendor, 
and National Media Research Planning and Placement, LLC as the second common vendor.  

None of the vendors referenced in the Complaint facilitated any coordination between the
NRA-PVF and the Hawley campaign.  The NRA-PVF’s advertisements related to the 2018 U.S. 
Senate election in Missouri were independent expenditures; no in-kind contributions were made 
from NRA-PVF to Josh Hawley for Senate.  Like the previous complaints, this Complaint is a 

1 NRA-ILA is not identified as a respondent by the Complainants.

2 Complaint at ¶ 2.

Digitally signed 
by Kathryn Ross 
Date: 2019.01.30 
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politically-motivated exercise in harassment, and is, unsurprisingly, without merit.  The 
Commission should find no reason to believe a violation occurred and dismiss this matter.  

 
I. OnMessage, Inc. and Starboard Strategic, Inc. 
 

The relationship between OnMessage, Inc. and Starboard Strategic, Inc. was discussed in 
detail in the Respondent’s first response (MUR 7427).3  Most of the Complaint’s allegations 
regarding “common vendor” coordination and OnMessage/Starboard are recycled from MUR 
7427, as was also the case in MUR 7497.  Pages 4 – 17 (Paragraphs 10 – 33) of the present 
Complaint are cut and pasted from the Complaint filed in MUR 7427, were addressed in a prior 
Response, and are not relevant to this matter.   
 

OnMessage/Starboard employees did not perform work and services for the NRA-PVF or 
NRA-ILA in connection with the 2018 U.S. Senate election in Missouri.  Pursuant to the 
OnMessage/Starboard firewall policy for 2018, Brad Todd, Curt Anderson, Wes Anderson, 
Timmy Teepell and six individuals not named in the Complaint provided consulting services to 
Josh Hawley for Senate.  Guy Harrison and Joanna Burgos provided services to a national party 
committee IE Unit in connection with the Missouri election.  No principals or employees were 
assigned to the NRA (or any other outside organization), and no employees performed any work 
or services for the NRA, including the NRA-PVF and NRA-ILA, in connection with the 2018 
U.S. Senate election in Missouri.4  The Missouri-related spending identified in the Complaint 
was not created, produced, or distributed by any of the aforementioned individuals, and the 
aforementioned individuals had no involvement in said spending. 

 
The Complaint correctly notes that “NRA-PVF has reported $973,411 in payments to 

Starboard [Strategic] for independent expenditures either supporting Hawley or opposing Claire 
McCaskill.”5  These payments were for media placement costs made through Starboard and were 
managed by Heather Doiron, an independent contractor retained by OnMessage/Starboard to 
provide certain media-related services to the NRA-PVF in 2018.  Ms. Doiron was retained in 
July 2018 because the OnMessage/Starboard employees referenced above were unable to 
provide services to the NRA-PVF under the company’s 2018 firewall agreement.6   

 
Ms. Doiron provided certain budget management and media planning services to the 

NRA-PVF from her office in Louisiana; these services included serving as a liaison between the 
NRA-PVF and its media placement vendor, National Media/Red Eagle, for the purpose of 
facilitating advertisement buys.7  Ms. Doiron managed the advertisement buys reflected in the 

                                                 
3 See Attachment F, MUR 7427, Response at 2-3, 6-7. 
 
4 See Attachment A, 2018 Firewall Policy of OnMessage, Inc.   
 
5 Complaint at ¶ 36.   
 
6 See Attachment B, Affidavit of Bradley Todd at ¶ 6.   
 
7 See Attachment C, Affidavit of Heather Doiron at ¶ 2-3.   
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independent expenditures referenced above.8  Ms. Doiron understood she was “firewalled” from 
the OnMessage/Starboard principals and employees and did not discuss any of the services she 
provided to the NRA-PVF in connection with the 2018 U.S. election in Missouri with any 
OnMessage/Starboard principal or employee.9  Furthermore, no principal or employee of 
OnMessage/Starboard communicated or conveyed to Ms. Doiron any non-public information 
concerning the plans, projects, activities, or needs of Josh Hawley for Senate or any national 
party committee.10   
 

As noted in previous responses, Mr. Todd has consulted with the NRA on a variety of 
matters, which primarily include general public relations matters and matters involving federal 
and state legislation.11  In 2018, Mr. Todd also consulted on election-related matters involving 
elections other than those in which he was retained by a candidate in such election (such as the 
U.S. Senate election in Missouri).12  Mr. Todd did not communicate or convey any non-public 
information about the campaign plans, projects, activities, or needs of Senator Hawley to any 
representative of the NRA-PVF or NRA-ILA.13  Mr. Todd was not involved in any decisions 
related to the creation, production, or distribution of any independent expenditures created by or 
on behalf of the NRA-PVF (or NRA-ILA) in connection with the U.S. Senate election in 
Missouri.14   
 

The limited services provided by a contractor retained by OnMessage/Starboard to the 
NRA-PVF in connection with the 2018 U.S. Senate election in Missouri were properly 
segregated from the “firewalled” employees.  The OnMessage/Starboard employees referenced 
above did not discuss any matters pertaining to their work for Josh Hawley for Senate with Ms. 
O’Donnell.15  The Complainant presents no evidence that any nonpublic, material campaign 
information was shared through OnMessage, Inc. and Starboard Strategic, Inc. personnel, or 
otherwise improperly used by OnMessage, Inc., and Starboard Strategic, Inc.  There is no 
evidence of any qualifying conduct, only speculation.   
 

For the reasons explained in the Response to MUR 7427, the Commission should reject 
the Complainant’s invitation to find reason to believe solely on the basis that the “payor” and 

                                                 
8 Id. at ¶ 2-4.   
 
9 Id. at ¶ 5.   
10 Id. at ¶ 6. 
 
11 Attachment B, Affidavit of Bradley Todd at ¶ 3.   
 
12 Id. at ¶ 3.   
 
13 Id. at ¶ 4.   
 
14 Id. at ¶ 5. 
15 See Attachment C, Affidavit of Heather Doiron at ¶ 6. 
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“content” standards are satisfied.16  As explained previously, “[t]he approach urged by the 
Complainants (to find reason to believe where ‘the first two parts of the common vendor test are 
satisfied,’ even in the absence of credible evidence pertaining to the third part of the test) has not 
been used since 2005, and since then the Commission has consistently required evidence of 
actual conduct in subsequent enforcement matters.”17   

 
As was the case in MUR 7427, the Complainant presents no specific evidence that the 

third part of the “common vendor” test was satisfied.  The Complaint contains no information or 
evidence showing or suggesting that the commercial vendor used or conveyed to the person 
paying for the communication any information about campaign plans, projects, activities, or 
needs of the clearly identified candidate, and the Complaint contains no information or evidence 
showing or suggesting that this information was material to the creation, production, or 
distribution of the communication.18   

 
II. National Media Research Planning and Placement, LLC 
 

National Media Research Planning and Placement LLC (National Media) has offices in 
Alexandria, Virginia.  “Red Eagle Media Group” and “American Media & Advocacy Group”19 
(AMAG) are both fictitious names used by National Media.  (A fictitious name is more 
commonly referred to as a “DBA” or an “assumed business name.”)  National Media, Red Eagle, 
and AMAG are the same company.  National Media’s fictitious names were initially acquired to 
facilitate compliance with the Commission’s common vendor regulations by providing an easy 
mechanism by which clients could be separated.  To the best of our knowledge, the Act has 
nothing to say about how individuals may or must organize their business, and neither the Act 
nor Commission regulations purport to govern the use of registered fictitious names or DBAs by 
commercial vendors.   

 
The Respondents do not contest that National Media, Red Eagle, and AMAG, by virtue 

of their being operated and controlled by the same individuals, may be treated as a “common 
vendor” in this matter with respect to the NRA-PVF and Josh Hawley for Senate. 20 
 

                                                 
16 See Attachment F, MUR 7427, Response at 9-16.  
 
17 Id. at 13-14. 
 
18 See 11 C.F.R. § 109.21(d)(4)(iii).   
 
19 The Complaint refers to American Media & Advocacy Group, LLC (AMAG LLC) at Paragraph 46.  
AMAG LLC is a separate legal entity that was created by National Media’s principals but has never had 
any operations.  The Complaint’s reference to “AMAG” at Paragraph 47 is a reference to the fictitious 
name used by National Media.  AMAG LLC and AMAG (the fictitious name) are unrelated. 
 
20 The Commission’s treatment of separate but related entities as “common vendors” was addressed in a 
prior response.  See Attachment F, MUR 7427, Response at 6-7.  As noted above, National Media, Red 
Eagle, and AMAG are the same company. 
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The Complaint recounts various transactions involving National Media, Red Eagle, 
AMAG, NRA-PVF, and Josh Hawley for Senate.  The Complainants claim that Jon Ferrell 
signed “agreement forms” for both NRA-PVF and Josh Hawley for Senate and conclude that Mr. 
Ferrell “placed advertisements on behalf of the NRA-PVF and Josh Hawley for Senate at the 
same station on the same day.”21  As it has in the past two Complaints, the Complainants then 
claim that this reflects an effort “to allow National Media to use or convey to the NRA-PVF 
information about the ‘plans, projects, activities or needs’ of Josh Hawley for Senate without 
detection, and that such information was ‘material to the creation, production, or distribution’ of 
the NRA-ILA’s [sic] communications supporting Hawley.”22  The Complainants are, once again, 
wrong.   

 
Jon Ferrell is the longtime Chief Financial Officer (CFO) of National Media.  Mr. Ferrell 

is a Certified Public Accountant (CPA) who manages accounting and financial matters for 
National Media, including billing and paying broadcast stations for advertisement buys.23  Mr. 
Ferrell is not involved in the creation, production, or distribution of any advertising.24  He does 
not make decisions regarding the development of media strategy, including the selection of 
advertising slots.25  He does not select advertising audiences, develop the content of advertising, 
produce public communications, identify voters, or otherwise provide consulting or media 
advice.26  Mr. Ferrell’s position with National Media does not involve any of the services 
identified at 11 C.F.R. § 109.21(d)(4)(ii)(A) – (I).  Mr. Ferrell’s position as CFO does not 
involve him in any of the creative or discretionary activities that implicate the Commission’s 
coordination regulations.  Mr. Ferrell’s interaction with National Media’s media buyers generally 
consists of receiving billing and invoicing instructions from those buyers,27 and his involvement 
in the purchasing of advertising is limited to this administrative function.   

 
The Complaint vaguely refers to three “agreement forms” that Mr. Ferrell signed.  The 

first of these is “[a]n ‘agreement form’ between Red Eagle and the Missouri station KYTV for 
NRA-PVF ads pertaining to the ‘Missouri General Election U.S. Senate,’” and dated September 
6, 2018.28  The second is “an agreement form” submitted by AMAG “on behalf of Josh Hawley 
for Senate, and signed by ‘Jon Ferrell, agent for Josh Hawley for Senate.’”29  Third, the 

                                                 
21 Complaint at ¶¶ 70, 71, 72.   
 
22 Id. at ¶ 71. 
23 See Attachment D, Affidavit of Jon Ferrell at ¶ 3. 
 
24 Id. at ¶ 5. 
 
25 Id. 
 
26 Id. at ¶¶ 6-7. 
 
27 Id. at ¶ 3. 
 
28 Complaint at ¶ 44(a).   
 
29 Id. at ¶ 47(b).  
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Complaint references “an agreement form filed by AMAG dated September 6, 2018 for a 
‘coordinated buy’ on behalf of ‘Josh Hawley for Senate/NRSC,’” also signed by Mr. Ferrell.30  
The Complainant subsequently concludes, repeatedly, that Mr. Ferrell “placed advertisements on 
behalf of both the NRA-PVF and Josh Hawley for Senate.”31  While Mr. Ferrell generally signs 
these “agreement forms” referenced by the Complainants, this act does not have the significance 
the Complainants’ claim.  In fact, it appears that at least one Complainant, the Campaign Legal 
Center, is well aware that a signature on this “agreement form” – NAB Form PB-18 – in no way 
suggests coordination.  These “agreement forms” are not contracts and they have nothing 
whatsoever to do with the selection of audiences and time slots.   

 
In other contexts, the Campaign Legal Center has shown that it knows exactly what this 

form represents.  In 2016, for instance, the Campaign Legal Center explained:  
 
When uploading political files, most broadcasters use an industry-standard form 
provided by the National Association of Broadcasters (NAB). . . . However, a 
number of broadcasters use a personalized variation of the NAB form that fulfills 
the same requirements.32   
 
While the “Agreement Form” heading may suggest otherwise, NAB Form PB-18 is not a 

contract of any sort; rather, it provides basic information about an advertisement sponsor, which 
the signer represents as accurate, and is placed by the broadcaster in the broadcast station’s 
public file.  According to the Campaign Legal Center:  

 
The NAB Agreement provides the space for stations to meet the disclosure 
requirements of section 315 of the Communications Act.  The form asks whether 
the ad communicates a “message relating to any political matter of national 
importance.”  If yes, then the station must, in the next section, disclose the name 
of the candidate, the office being sought, the date of the election and/or the issue 
to which the ad refers.  The form gives several examples of legislative issues of 
national importance, including the “Affordable Care Act.”33 
 
This form is intended to fulfill the broadcaster’s public disclosure obligation; it is not a 

contract between the broadcaster and the ad sponsor.  NAB Form PB-18 does not contain or 

                                                 
30 Id. at ¶ 47(c).  
 
31 Id. at ¶¶ 70, 71, 72. 
 
32 Campaign Legal Center, Who’s Behind That Political Ad? The FCC’s Online Political Files and 
Failures in Sponsorship Identification Regulation (Sept. 2016) at 5, 
https://campaignlegal.org/sites/default/files/Who%27s%20behind%20that%20political%20ad.pdf. 
 
33 See Complaint of Issue One and Campaign Legal Center Against Cox Media Group, licensee of WSB-
TV, Atlanta, GA For Violations of the Communications Act § 315 and FCC Regulation § 73.1212 at 6, 
http://www.campaignlegalcenter.org/sites/default/files/8-21-17%20FCC-WSB-Patriot%20Majority.pdf 
(emphasis added). 
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reveal any information about the particulars of an ad buy, including the so-called “flight,” or 
airing schedule.  Those details are contained in the actual purchase contract, a version of which is 
uploaded to the broadcaster’s public file separately by the broadcaster in accordance with FCC 
requirements.34 (The Complainant includes several versions of these modified purchase contracts 
as exhibits.  Before the FCC, the Campaign Legal Center has noted that these contracts 
“discloses rates, dates, and times the ad ran.”35)  In other words, the act of “placing an 
advertisement” is accomplished via the purchase contract; NAB Form PB-18 is a basic 
disclosure form.      

 
By playing dumb on this issue, the Complainants undoubtedly intend to create the 

misimpression that Mr. Ferrell signed contractual agreements to purchase air time for National 
Media clients and that he was therefore involved in the selection of media outlets, target 
audiences, and advertising time slots for multiple clients.  The assertion in the Complaint at 
Paragraphs 70, 71, and 72 that “[i]n at least one instance, the same National Media official 
placed advertisements on behalf of both the NRA-PVF and Josh Hawley for Senate on the same 
stations and on the same day” (emphasis added) is a deliberate misrepresentation.  The basis for 
this false claim is Mr. Ferrell’s signature on two NAB Form PB-18 filings (see Complaint 
Exhibits J and Q).   But, based upon the Campaign Legal Center’s own past writings, it is 
absolutely clear that the Campaign Legal Center is aware that a signature on NAB Form PB-18 
does not constitute “placing an advertisement.”  It is also self-evident from even a cursory review 
of these forms that they contain no information whatsoever that would lead a reasonable person 
to conclude “coordination” had occurred.  The Complainants undoubtedly know this and any 
allegations of coordination they make on the basis of NAB Form PB-18 are made in bad faith.  

 
All advertising placement decisions for the advertisements referenced in the Complaint 

were made in accordance with National Media’s 2018 Firewall Policy.36  Pursuant to that policy, 

                                                 
34 See Campaign Legal Center, Who’s Behind That Political Ad? The FCC’s Online Political Files and 
Failures in Sponsorship Identification Regulation (Sept. 2016) at 5 (“This NAB form is uploaded 
alongside broadcasting details to the FCC’s online portal.”); Complaint of Issue One and Campaign Legal 
Center Against Cox Media Group, licensee of WSB-TV, Atlanta, GA For Violations of the 
Communications Act § 315 and FCC Regulation § 73.1212 at 5 (“WSB-TV uploaded a number of 
documents to its online political file for the sale of airtime for ‘Yard,’ including but not limited to: the 
contract, which discloses rates, dates, and times the ad ran, in compliance with section 315(e)(2)(A)-(D); 
and the National Association of Broadcasters (NAB) Form PB-18, ‘Agreement Form for Non-
Candidate/Issue Advertisements’ (‘NAB Agreement’).  The NAB Agreement acknowledged that the ad 
related to the election in Georgia’s Sixth Congressional District.”) (citations omitted). 
 
35 See Complaint of Campaign Legal Center and Sunlight Foundation Against The Gannett Company, 
licensee of WCNC-TV, Charlotte, NC, For Violations of the Communications Act § 315 and FCC 
Regulation § 73.1212 at 6 (May 1, 2014), https://campaignlegal.org/sites/default/files/WCNC-PMP.pdf 
(“WCNC-TV uploaded the following to its online political file for the sale of airtime for ‘Bad Company’: 
the contract, which discloses rates, dates, and times the ad ran, in compliance with section 315(e)(2)(A)-
(D); and the National Association of Broadcasters (NAB) Form PB18, ‘Agreement Form for Non-
Candidate/Issue Advertisements.’”).   
 
36 See Attachment E, National Media Research, Planning and Placement LLC Firewall Policy.   
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Ben Angle and John Jay served as the media buyers for Josh Hawley for Senate.  Mr. Angle and 
Mr. Jay also served as the media buyers for party coordinated advertising produced by Josh 
Hawley For Senate and the National Republican Senatorial Committee.  Kristy Kovach and 
Tracey Robinson served as the media buyers for NRA-PVF in Missouri in 2018.  All decisions 
regarding media placement of the advertisements referenced in the Complaint were made by 
these firewalled media buyers.37  Mr. Ferrell’s role is addressed on Page 2, Paragraph 5 of 
National Media’s 2018 Firewall Policy which provides that “employees who perform 
management functions (e.g., financial, strategic, or corporate leadership) which affect all 
[National Media] clients” are not subject to the firewall restrictions.  However, “these 
management employees will not be provided access to information material to the creation, 
production or distribution of the clients’ communications.”38  Mr. Ferrell often signs NAB Form 
PB-18 on behalf of his employer’s clients after the form is prepared by others;39 this act is an 
administrative one.   

                                                 
37 The Complainants posit some sort of third-rate coordination scheme by sophisticated actors that a 
handful of activists were nevertheless able to uncover by searching publicly-available documents.  It does 
not seem to occur to the Complainants that “common vendor” coordination through media buyers is 
utterly unnecessary.  Federal Communications Commission regulations require broadcast, cable, and 
satellite stations to place ad buy information in the FCC’s online, publicly-accessible “political file” “as 
soon as possible,” which the FCC defines to mean “immediately absent unusual circumstances.”  See 47 
C.F.R. §§ 1943(c), 76.1701(c), 25.701(d)(2); see also Expansion of Online Public File Obligations to 
Cable and Satellite TV Operators and Broadcast and Satellite Radio Licensees, Report and Order, 31 
FCC Rcd 526 at ¶ 27 (Jan. 29, 2016) (“[W]e will require that new political file material be uploaded to 
the online file ‘immediately absent unusual circumstances.’ The contents of the political file are time-
sensitive.  Therefore, it is essential that there be no delay in posting political file materials to the online 
file.”).  In other words, comprehensive, easily-searchable television and radio ad buy information is made 
publicly available in more-or-less real time.   

In response to a complaint filed by the Campaign Legal Center, the FCC wrote: “[P]ursuant to Section 
315(e)(1)(B), licensees are required to make available for public inspection a ‘complete record’ of each 
request to purchase broadcast time that ‘communicates a message relating to any political matter of 
national importance, including (i) a legally qualified candidate; (ii) any election to Federal office; or (iii) a 
national legislative issue of public importance.’”  Order In The Matter of a Complaint Involving the 
Political Files of Scripps Media, Inc. at ¶ 4 (Jan. 6, 2017).  The “complete record” includes, among other 
things, “the date and time on which the communication is aired.”  Id. at ¶ 5.   

As noted, the Complainants themselves have urged the FCC to police station compliance with the 
agency’s online political file requirements.  See, e.g., Campaign Legal Center, Campaign Legal Center 
and Sunlight Foundation File FCC Complaints Against Broadcasters Nationwide for Failure to Disclose 
Required Information on Political Ads, April 30, 2014, https://campaignlegal.org/press-
releases/campaign-legal-center-and-sunlight-foundation-file-fcc-complaints-against.  One result of the 
online political file requirements is that with respect to television, radio, and satellite ad buyers, the FEC’s 
“common vendor” coordination rules are effectively obsolete.  “[T]he information material to the … 
distribution of a communication used by the commercial vendor” – i.e., station, date, and time 
information – may always be “obtained from a publicly available source.”  11 C.F.R. § 109.21(d)(4)(iii).     
38 See Attachment E, National Media Research, Planning and Placement LLC Firewall Policy at 2. 
 
39 See Attachment D, Affidavit of Jon Ferrell at ¶ 4. 
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Aside from attempting to mislead the Commission about the nature and significance of 
NAB Form PB-18, the Complainants present no evidence that any nonpublic, material campaign 
information was shared through National Media, Red Eagle, and AMAG personnel, or otherwise 
improperly used by the foregoing.  There is no evidence of any qualifying conduct, only 
speculation and an intentional effort to mislead. 

 
As with OnMessage, Inc. and Starboard Strategic, the Commission should reject the 

Complainant’s invitation to find reason to believe solely on the basis that the “payor” and 
“content” standards are satisfied.40  As explained previously, “[t]he approach urged by the 
Complainants (to find reason to believe where ‘the first two parts of the common vendor test are 
satisfied,’ even in the absence of credible evidence pertaining to the third part of the test) has not 
been used since 2005, and since then the Commission has consistently required evidence of 
actual conduct in subsequent enforcement matters.”41   

 
The Complainant presents no specific evidence that the third part of the “common 

vendor” test was satisfied.  The Complaint contains no information or evidence showing or 
suggesting that the commercial vendor used or conveyed to the person paying for the 
communication any information about campaign plans, projects, activities, or needs of the 
clearly identified candidate, and the Complaint contains no information or evidence showing or 
suggesting that this information was material to the creation, production, or distribution of the 
communication.42 

 
III. Conclusion 

For the reasons set forth above, this Complaint should be dismissed, along with the two 
previous complaints filed by the Complainants.  There is no evidence in support of the 
Complainant’s allegations that the Respondents engaged in any form of coordination under the 
Act or the Commission’s regulations. 
 
      Sincerely, 
 
      
 
      Jason Torchinsky 
      Michael Bayes 
      Jessica F. Johnson 
 
Attachments 
 
 

                                                 
40 See Attachment F, MUR 7427, Response at 9-16.   
 
41 Id. at 13-14. 
 
42 See 11 C.F.R. § 109.21(d)(4)(iii).   
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March 8, 2018

To: OnMessage, Inc.

From: Jessica Furst Johnson

Re: Internal Firewall Policy of OnMessage, Inc.

The purpose of this memorandum is to memorialize the implementation of an internal firewall 
policy adopted by OnMessage, Inc. (“OMI”), in advance of the 2018 elections.

OMI wishes to implement a firewall policy that satisfies and complies with the safe harbor 
requirements set forth at Federal Election Commission (FEC) regulation 11 C.F.R. § 109.22(h).  
By meeting these requirements, this policy will effectively prevent OMI personnel from 
conveying nonpublic, material information from one client to another and thereby prevent 
information obtained from one client from being used on behalf of another in a manner that may 
implicate the FEC’s coordination regulations.  

Accordingly, OMI has designed and implemented a firewall that will effectively prevent 
“common vendor” coordination, as that term is used at 11 C.F.R. § 109.21(d)(4), among OMI’s 
various clients.  

Specifically, this firewall is intended to prevent any OMI personnel (i) from conveying to a client 
who may produce and distribute public communications in connection with Election X, or (ii) 
using on that client’s behalf, any:

(a) information about the campaign plans, projects, activities, or needs of a second client 
who is a candidate in Election X, the second client’s election opponent, or a political 
party committee engaged in Election X, where that information is material to the 
creation, production, or distribution of the first client’s public communication; or

(b) information learned or used previously by OMI in the course of providing services to 
a candidate (or that candidate’s opponent) where that candidate is now clearly identified 
in the public communication of another client, and the information is material to the 
creation, production, or distribution of the client’s public communication.

In furtherance of this firewall policy, the principals of OMI have taken steps to “firewall” (or 
“silo”) certain clients to ensure that work and services are provided to those clients only by 
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specific OMI employees who will not share sensitive information regarding their firewalled 
clients with other OMI employees.   
 
Please reference the 2018 OMI Firewall Chart, attached to this firewall policy.  
 
With respect to each race, no OMI employee will provide work and services to clients in more 
than one category. Clients in Category 3 have been determined not to present a coordination risk 
with respect to other clients in that same category, and therefore an OMI employee may work 
with multiple clients in Category 3 who are active in the same race.     
 
One or more OMI employees may have administrative duties that involve providing services to, 
or in support of, clients that are involved in the same race in more than one category.  These 
employees will not perform work or services that involve creative or strategic decisions 
regarding the creation, production, or distribution of public communications, and will not convey 
information regarding any such creative or strategic decisions from one principal to another. 
 
This policy is intended to supplement and reinforce OMI’s existing policies regarding the safe-
guarding of client confidences and OMI’s existing commitment to maintaing the highest 
professional standards. 
 
OMI will consult regularly with counsel regarding the continued maintenance of its firewall 
policy, and this policy is subject to revision as a result of the addition or subtraction of clients.   
 
This policy will be shared, as appropriate, with all current and future affected employees, 
consultants, vendors, independent contractors, and clients. 
 
If you have any questions about this policy, you should contact Graham Shafer.  

Please sign and date this policy statement acknowledging that you have read and understand the 
Policy Statement.  Return the signed copy to Sarah Binion by March 15, 2018.  An additional 
copy can be provided for your records.  

I have read and understand this policy statement:   

 

Signature:  ______________________________________ 

 

Print Name:  _______________________________________ 

 

Date:   _______________________________________ 
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Affidavit of Heather Doiron 
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;OLITICAL CLIENTS INCLUDE CANDIDATE CAMPAIGN COMMITTEES" POLITICAL PARTY COMMITTEES" POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEES" *', COMMITTEES" *%& C! )! ORGANIZATIONS" AND OTHER INDEPENDENT GROUPS FOR
WHICH :9<;; DEVELOPS CONTENT" BUYS TIME" OR PROVIDES OTHER MEDIA SERVICES IN RELATIONSHIP TO
THEIR PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS$ >O THAT END" THE FOLLOWING POLICY IS IN EFFECT IMMEDIATELY AND MUST
BE FOLLOWED BY ALL :9<;; EMPLOYEES AND RETAINED CONSULTANTS.

&$ 0LL WORK ENGAGEMENTS FOR PROSPECTIVE OR EXISTING POLITICAL CLIENTS MUST BE APPROVED BY A
MEMBER OF THE 9ANAGEMENT >EAM OF :9<;;"  <OBIN <OBERTS" ;RESIDENT OR 7ATHLEEN 6ONES" =R$
?ICE ;RESIDENT! BEFORE EMPLOYEES OR CONSULTANTS CAN PERFORM WORK FOR THE CLIENT$ 5F:9<;;
EMPLOYEES OR CONSULTANTS ARE CONTACTED BY PROSPECTIVE OR EXISTING CLIENTS ABOUT PERFORMING
MEDIA SERVICES" THEY SHOULD IMMEDIATELY CONTACT <OBIN OR 7ATHLEEN$

'$ 5F 9ANAGEMENT >EAM DETERMINES THAT :9<;;^S ENGAGEMENT FOR A CLIENT COULD CAUSE"
CONTRIBUTE TO" OR RESULT IN COORDINATION OR THE APPEARANCE OF COORDINATION BETWEEN PROSPECTIVE"
EXISTING OR PRIOR CLIENTS REGARDING POLITICAL AND ISSUE#ORIENTED COMMUNICATIONS" THEN WORK MAY
NOT BE PERFORMED BY ANY :9<;; EMPLOYEE OR CONSULTANT FOR ANY AFFECTED CLIENT UNTIL :9<;;
IMPLEMENTS APPROPRIATE \FIREWALL] PROCEDURES TO ADDRESS THOSE COORDINATION CONCERNS$ 5F AN
:9<;; EMPLOYEE OR CONSULTANT HAS INFORMATION SUGGESTING THAT :9<;;^S ENGAGEMENT FOR A
CLIENT COULD CAUSE" CONTRIBUTE TO" OR RESULT IN COORDINATION OR THE APPEARANCE OF COORDINATION
BETWEEN PROSPECTIVE" EXISTING OR PRIOR CLIENTS REGARDS TO POLITICAL AND ISSUE#ORIENTED
COMMUNICATIONS" THE EMPLOYEE OR CONSULTANT MUST NOTIFY 9ANAGEMENT >EAM IMMEDIATELY$ 5N
THAT CASE" EMPLOYEES AND CONSULTANTS MAY NOT PERFORM WORK ON THE AFFECTED MATTERS UNTIL THEY ARE
NOTIFIED BY 9ANAGEMENT >EAM$

($ >HE REASON FOR FIREWALL PROCEDURES IS TO PROHIBIT THE FLOW OF INFORMATION BETWEEN
EMPLOYEES OR CONSULTANTS PROVIDING SERVICES FOR ONE CLIENT AND THOSE EMPLOYEES OR CONSULTANTS
CURRENTLY OR PREVIOUSLY PROVIDING SERVICES TO ANOTHER CLIENT RELATING TO THE CREATION" PRODUCTION OR
DISTRIBUTION OF COMMUNICATIONS$ 5N ESTABLISHING A FIREWALL" :9<;; WILL USE APPROPRIATE
RESOURCES AND PROCEDURES TO ENSURE THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THE FIREWALL" WHICH MAY INCLUDE PLACING
EMPLOYEES OR CONSULTANTS ON SEPARATE TEAMS" ESTABLISHING SEPARATE WORK AREAS" USING SEPARATE
ACCOUNTS IN THE MEDIA BUYING SOFTWARE PROGRAM" AND IMPLEMENTING WORK PROTOCOLS" AS DISCUSSED
MORE FULLY BELOW$ 0DDITIONALLY" IN ORDER TO FACILITATE THE FIREWALL PROCEDURES" :9<;; MAY"
WHEN APPROPRIATE" ASSIGN MATTERS TO DIFFERENT COMPANY ENTITIES INCLUDING 0MERICAN 9EDIA
0DVOCACY 4ROUP  0904!" AND <ED 2AGLE 9EDIA 4ROUP$ 0S MANDATED BY OUR COMPANY FIREWALL
POLICY" MANAGEMENT WILL DETERMINE THE STAFF THAT WILL WORK ON EACH ACCOUNT" AND NO EMPLOYEE
WORKING ON AN ACCOUNT OR HAVING ACCESS TO PERTINENT INFORMATION IN ONE ORGANIZATION WILL BE
ALLOWED TO PERFORM SIMILAR DUTIES IN THE OTHER ORGANIZATION FOR THE SAME RACE$

)$ @HENEVER :9<;; DETERMINES THAT FIREWALL PROCEDURES ARE REQUIRED" ALL EMPLOYEES AND
CONSULTANTS WILL BE INFORMED OF THE EXISTENCE OF THE FIREWALL" THE IDENTITIES OF THE AFFECTED CLIENTS"
AND THE IDENTITIES OF THE EMPLOYEES AND CONSULTANTS WHO WILL BE ASSIGNED TO WORK FOR THE AFFECTED
CLIENTS$ 3IREWALL PROCEDURES THAT APPLY IN A PARTICULAR MATTER WILL BE SET FORTH IN A WRITTEN
MEMORANDUM THAT WILL BE PROVIDED" ALONG WITH A COPY OF THIS POLICY STATEMENT" TO ALL RELEVANT
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EMPLOYEES" CONSULTANTS" AND CLIENTS IN ADVANCE OF ANY WORK BEING PERFORMED FOR THE AFFECTED
CLIENTS$

*$ >WO RESTRICTIONS WILL APPLY TO :9<;; EMPLOYEES WHENEVER COORDINATION CONCERNS ARE
PRESENT AND FIREWALL PROCEDURES ARE IN EFFECT.

[ >HE SAME :9<;; EMPLOYEE OR CONSULTANT CANNOT PERFORM WORK RELATING TO MORE THAN
ONE CLIENT ON OPPOSITE SIDES OF THE FIREWALL" FOR THE SAME ELECTION$ >HIS RESTRICTION DOES
NOT" HOWEVER" APPLY  &! TO EMPLOYEES OR CONSULTANTS WHO PROVIDE EXCLUSIVELY
ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANCE  E$G$" RECEPTION" CLERICAL OR 5> SUPPORT! OR  '! TO EMPLOYEES WHO
PERFORM MANAGEMENT FUNCTIONS  E$G$" FINANCIAL" STRATEGIC" OR CORPORATE LEADERSHIP! WHICH
AFFECT ALL :9<;; CLIENTS/ HOWEVER" THESE MANAGEMENT EMPLOYEES WILL NOT BE PROVIDED
ACCESS TO INFORMATION MATERIAL TO THE CREATION" PRODUCTION OR DISTRIBUTION OF THE CLIENTS^
COMMUNICATIONS$ >HE SPECIFIC MEASURES USED TO ENSURE THAT MANAGEMENT EMPLOYEES DO
NOT HAVE ACCESS TO THE MATERIAL INFORMATION WILL BE SET FORTH IN THE FIREWALL MEMORANDUM
FOR A PARTICULAR MATTER$

[ 2MPLOYEES AND CONSULTANTS WHO PROVIDE SERVICES FOR A CLIENT SUBJECT TO FIREWALL
PROCEDURES ARE" AS A MATTER OF COMPANY POLICY" PROHIBITED FROM COMMUNICATING WITH
EMPLOYEES AND CONSULTANTS WHO PROVIDE SERVICES FOR ANY OTHER CLIENT SUBJECT TO THE
FIREWALL REGARDING THE SUBSTANCE OF THE WORK THAT :9<;; IS HANDLING" OR HAS BEEN
ENGAGED TO HANDLE$ <OUTINE COMMUNICATIONS BETWEEN CO#WORKERS" SUCH AS EXCHANGING
PLEASANTRIES" ARE PERMITTED$

+$ ;LEASE KEEP IN MIND THAT :9<;;^S CLIENTS ARE THE BENEFICIARIES OF THIS FIREWALL POLICY AND
THE FIREWALL PROCEDURES THAT WILL BE IMPLEMENTED FOR PARTICULAR ENGAGEMENTS$ >HE MERE EXISTENCE
OF THIS POLICY STATEMENT AND SPECIFIC FIREWALL PROCEDURES WILL NOT PROTECT OUR CLIENTS FROM
ALLEGATIONS OF IMPERMISSIBLE COORDINATION IF" DESPITE THE FIREWALL" INFORMATION ABOUT THE SUBSTANCE
OF OUR WORK IS COMMUNICATED BETWEEN EMPLOYEES OR CONSULTANTS WORKING FOR THE AFFECTED CLIENTS$
>HEREFORE" IT IS ESSENTIAL THAT :9<;; EMPLOYEES AND CONSULTANTS STRICTLY ADHERE TO THIS POLICY
AND COMPLY WITH THE FIREWALL PROCEDURES THAT ARE PUT IN PLACE FOR A PARTICULAR ENGAGEMENT$ 5F
EMPLOYEES OR CONSULTANTS BECOME AWARE OF ANY PROBLEMS WITH THE EFFECTIVENESS OF FIREWALL
PROCEDURES" 9ANAGEMENT >EAM MUST BE NOTIFIED IMMEDIATELY$

,$ 5F YOU HAVE ANY QUESTIONS ABOUT THIS POLICY" YOU SHOULD CONTACT 9ANAGEMENT >EAM$

-$ ;LEASE SIGN AND DATE THIS POLICY STATEMENT ACKNOWLEDGING THAT YOU HAVE READ AND
UNDERSTAND THE ;OLICY =TATEMENT$ <ETURN THE SIGNED COPY TO <OBIN$ 0N ADDITIONAL COPY HAS BEEN
PROVIDED FOR YOUR RECORDS$

5 HAVE READ AND UNDERSTAND THIS POLICY STATEMENT.

'4/26 &)1, ")6, 
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Media Buying Clients / Media Buyers in Missouri, 2018  

Josh Hawley for Senate 

Market   Buyer    Company 
Kansas City  Ben Angle   American Media & Advocacy Group (AMAG) 
Springfield  Ben Angle 
Columbia  Ben Angle 
Statewide Cable Ben Angle 
Addressable  Ben Angle 
Paducah  John Jay 
Joplin   John Jay 
St. Louis  John Jay 
 
NRSC/Josh Hawley (Coordinated Money)  American Media & Advocacy Group 
St. Joseph  Ben Angle 
Ottumwa  Ben Angle 
Springfield  Ben Angle 
Quincy   John Jay 
 
NRA PVF      Red Eagle Media Group 
Kansas City  Kristy Kovach   
Springfield  Kristy Kovach   
Columbia  Tracey Robinson 
Joplin   Tracey Robison 
 
America First Action     Red Eagle Media Group 
Kansas City  Kristy Kovach 
Springfield  Kristy Kovach 
Paducah  Kristy Kovach 
St. Louis  Tracey Robinson 
Columbia  Tracey Robinson 
Joplin   Tracey Robinson 
St. Joseph  Tracey Robinson 
Quincy   Chris Kinton 
 
NRSC-IE       NMRPP 
St. Louis  Michelle Morie 
Kansas City  Beth Stallings 
Springfield  Chris Kinton 
Columbia  Michelle Morie 
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Attachment F 
Responses Filed in MURs 7427 and 7497 
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November 12, 2018

Federal Election Commission
Office of General Counsel
Office of Complaints Examination
   & Legal Administration
attn: Kathryn Ross, Paralegal
1050 First Street, NE
Washington, DC 20002

Re: MUR 7497

Dear Ms. Ross:

This response is submitted by the undersigned counsel on behalf of the following 
Respondents in connection with the above-referenced matter: National Rifle Association of 
America Political Victory Fund (NRA-PVF) and Mary Rose Adkins1 in her capacity as 
Treasurer; National Rifle Association Institute for Legislative Action (NRA-ILA); OnMessage, 
Inc.; and Starboard Strategic, Inc.  This is the second of three related, pre-election complaints 
filed by the Campaign Legal Center and Giffords, in conjunction with coordinated media 
coverage by the anti-NRA outlet The Trace.

The NRA-ILA advertisements referenced in this Complaint were independent 
expenditures and no in-kind contributions were made from NRA-PVF or NRA-ILA to the 
candidate referenced in the Complaint.  The Complaint is without merit, substitutes unwarranted 
speculation for actual evidence, and should be dismissed.

In a letter dated October 11, 2018, nine Democratic Senators took the highly unusual step 
of writing to the Chair and Vice Chair in an effort to interfere politically with this matter by 
encouraging the Commission to investigate.  Using official resources, these Senators repeated the 
baseless allegations made by their political allies in MURs 7427 and 7497.  We urge the 
Commission to ignore this ethically questionable attempt to improperly influence a Commission 
enforcement matter.2  

1 Please note that Robert G. Owens is now the Treasurer of NRA-PVF.
2 See Attachment A, Letter to Chair Caroline C. Hunter and Vice Chair Ellen Weintraub from U.S. Senators Sheldon 
Whitehouse, Dianne Feinstein, Patty Murray, Richard Blumenthal, Christopher S. Murphy, Elizabeth Warren, 
Edward J. Markey, Chris Van Hollen, and Kamala D. Harris (Oct. 11, 2018), 
https://www.whitehouse.senate.gov/news/release/senators-call-out-nra-for-using-shell-corporation-to-duck-
campaign-finance-law. 
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I. Background 
 

 This Complaint alleges that approximately $400,000 spent on independent expenditures 
by the NRA-ILA in connection with the U.S. Senate election in Montana was coordinated with 
one of the candidates in that election.3  The Complainants’ coordination allegations are premised 
on two theories: (1) the communications were coordinated through a common vendor; and (2) 
the communications were the product of one candidate’s “assent” to an NRA representative’s 
“suggestion.”  As explained in more detail below, both allegations are without merit. 

 
Neither the NRA-PVF nor the NRA-ILA made any coordinated communications through 

a common vendor.  OnMessage, Inc. and Starboard Strategic, Inc. maintained an effective 
firewall in accordance with 11 C.F.R. § 109.21(h) at all times relevant to this matter for the 
benefit of their clients.  The Complainant presents no evidence that any nonpublic, material 
campaign information was shared through OnMessage, Inc. and Starboard Strategic, Inc. 
personnel, or otherwise improperly used by OnMessage, Inc., and Starboard Strategic, Inc.  
There is no evidence of any qualifying conduct, only speculation.   

 
The NRA-PVF and NRA-ILA also did not make any coordinated communications under 

an “assent to a suggestion” theory.  As explained below, no “suggestion” was made under 11 
C.F.R. § 109.21(d)(1)(ii), and the candidate statement referenced in the Complaint does not 
constitute an “assent” under 11 C.F.R. § 109.21(d)(1)(ii). 
 
 
II. “Common Vendor” Coordination 
 

Most of the Complaint’s allegations regarding “common vendor” coordination are 
recycled from a previously filed Complaint (MUR 7427).  Paragraphs 16 – 37 of the Complaint 
are cut and pasted from the Complaint filed in MUR 7427, were addressed in a prior Response, 
and are not relevant to this matter.  The Response in MUR 7427 is included as Attachment B and 
incorporated by reference.   
 

In the present matter, the Complainant asserts that NRA-ILA made independent 
expenditures of $383,196 and $21,300 in connection with the U.S. Senate election on September 
6, 2018.  The expenditure of $383,196 was disbursed to Starboard Strategic. (The $21,300 was 
disbursed to Redprint Strategy LLC.)  The Complaint also contends that Matt Rosendale for 
Montana “has reported $445,367 in disbursements to OnMessage … as of September 13, 2018.”4  
The relationship between Starboard Strategic and OnMessage was explained in detail in the 
Response to MUR 7427 (pages 2-3, 5-7).   

 
As was the case in MUR 7427, OnMessage and Starboard Strategic have a firewall policy 

in place for the current election cycle.5  OnMessage and Starboard Strategic maintained an 

                                                 
3 See Complaint at ¶¶ 2, 12, 14.   
4 Complaint at ¶ 15.   
5 See Attachment C, Firewall Policy of OnMessage, Inc. (March 8, 2018).   
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effective firewall in accordance with 11 C.F.R. § 109.21(h) at all times relevant to this matter for 
the benefit of its clients.  With respect to the 2018 U.S. Senate election in Montana: 

 Guy Harrison and Brad Todd, along with five individuals not named in the Complaint 
were assigned to provide work and services to Matt Rosendale’s campaign. 

 Curt Anderson, Timmy Teepell, and Wes Anderson, along with two individuals not 
named in the Complaint were assigned to provide work and services to NRA-PVF and 
NRA-ILA in connection with Montana’s 2018 U.S. Senate election. 

Consistent with this firewall policy, Mr. Todd has consulted with the NRA on a variety of 
matters, which primarily include general public relations matters and matters involving federal 
and state legislation.6  Mr. Todd also consulted on election-related matters involving elections 
other than the U.S Senate election in Montana.7  Mr. Todd did not communicate or convey any 
non-public information about the campaign plans, projects, activities, or needs of Mr. Rosendale 
to any representative of the NRA-PVF or NRA-ILA.8  Mr. Todd was not involved in any 
decisions relating to the creation, production, or distribution of any independent expenditures 
created by or on behalf of the NRA-ILA in connection with the U.S. Senate election in 
Montana.9   

The Complainant presents no evidence that any nonpublic, material campaign 
information was shared through OnMessage, Inc. and Starboard Strategic, Inc. personnel, or 
otherwise improperly used by OnMessage, Inc., and Starboard Strategic, Inc.  There is no 
evidence of any qualifying conduct, only speculation.   
 

For the reasons explained in the Response to MUR 7427, the Commission should reject 
the Complainant’s invitation to find reason to believe solely on the basis that the “payor” and 
“content” standards are satisfied.10  As explained previously, “[t]he approach urged by the 
Complainants (to find reason to believe where ‘the first two parts of the common vendor test are 
satisfied,’ even in the absence of credible evidence pertaining to the third part of the test) has not 
been used since 2005, and since then the Commission has consistently required evidence of 
actual conduct in subsequent enforcement matters.”11   

 
As was the case in MUR 7427, the Complainant presents no specific evidence that the 

third part of the “common vendor” test was satisfied.  The Complaint contains no information or 
evidence showing or suggesting that the commercial vendor used or conveyed to the person 
paying for the communication any information about campaign plans, projects, activities, or 
needs of the clearly identified candidate, and the Complaint contains no information or evidence 
showing or suggesting that this information was material to the creation, production, or 
distribution of the communication.12   

 
 
                                                 
6 See Attachment D, Affidavit of Bradley Todd at ¶ 3.   
7 Id.   
8 Id. at ¶ 4.   
9 Id. at ¶ 5. 
10 See MUR 7427, Response at 9-16.   
11 MUR 7427, Response at 13-14. 
12 See 11 C.F.R. § 109.21(d)(4)(iii).   
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III. “Assents to the Suggestion” 
 

The Complainant’s second coordination theory contends that the conduct prong is 
satisfied because the communications at issue were “created, produced, or distributed at the 
suggestion of a person paying for the communication and the candidate, authorized committee, 
or political party committee assent[ed] to the suggestion.”   

 
 The Complaint’s theory relies on audio allegedly recorded “[a]t a July 2018 event in 
Washington, D.C.” and first publicized in a September 13, 2018 article appearing on The Daily 
Beast website.13  (It is unclear how The Daily Beast reporter knows when and where the audio 
was recorded, and we have no way of verifying if the article’s claims are accurate.)  The 
recorded audio is as follows: 
 
 Questioner: Outside groups started spending on your behalf? 
 

Rosendale:  Yes.  So, the uh, the Club for Growth has already started.  Umm, there’s 
another group that has already started.  I can’t even remember the name of 
it now.  They just started recently.  Outside groups have already started to 
come in.  I fully expect that the U.S. Chamber is gonna come in, and I 
fully expect the NRA is gonna come in.  I think both of them are coming 
in, probably right here in August.  Sometime. 

 
Questioner: This is a big race for the NRA. 
 
Rosendale: Yes.  The, the uh, Supreme Court confirmations are big.  That’s what sent 

the NRA over the line.  Because in 12, with Denny, they stayed out.  They 
stayed out.  Chris Cox told me, he was like, “Well, we’re gonna be in this 
race.” 

  
The Complaint contends that Mr. Rosendale’s statements about the NRA constitute an 

“assent” to Mr. Cox’s alleged “suggestion” that the NRA distribute public communication in 
connection with the U.S. Senate race in Montana. 

 
Christopher Cox serves as the Executive Director of the NRA-ILA and Chairman of the 

NRA-PVF.  In fulfilling these roles, he sometimes speaks to federal candidates about issues of 
concern to the NRA and its members, possible NRA-PVF endorsements, and possible NRA-PVF 
contributions.  When he speaks with federal candidates, he routinely begins any conversation by 
explaining that he is unable to discuss any possible, planned, or ongoing NRA, NRA-ILA, or 
NRA-PVF communications in support of the candidates or in opposition to the candidate’s 
opponent.14   
                                                 
13 Complaint at ¶ 10; Lachlan Markay, Exclusive: Audio Reveals Potentially Illegal Coordination Between NRA and 
Montana Senate Hopeful Matt Rosendale, The Daily Beast, Sept. 13, 2018, 
https://www.thedailybeast.com/exclusive-audio-reveals-potentially-illegal-coordination-between-nra-and-montana-
senate-hopeful-matt-rosendale.   
14 See Attachment E, Affidavit of Christopher Cox at ¶ 4. 
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The earlier conversation referenced in the quoted language above occurred on June 13, 
2018.15  Mr. Cox was introduced to Matt Rosendale, and Mr. Cox began by stating that he could 
not discuss any possible, planned, or ongoing NRA, NRA-ILA, or NRA-PVF public 
communications in connection with the U.S. Senate election in Montana.16  Mr. Cox and Mr. 
Rosendale spoke briefly about issues of concern to the NRA and its members, namely national 
concealed carry reciprocity legislation and federal judgeships.17  Mr. Cox recalls that he 
mentioned that the NRA was dissatisfied with Senator Tester’s vote against the confirmation of 
Justice Gorsuch.18  It was Mr. Cox’s understanding that Mr. Rosendale was seeking the NRA’s 
endorsement and a contribution from NRA-PVF.19  Mr. Cox told Mr. Rosendale that the U.S. 
Senate election in Montana was a priority for the NRA, given the high-profile nature and 
importance of that race and the importance of the Supreme Court to the NRA and its members.20  
Mr. Cox was not prepared to formally commit to the NRA’s endorsement of Mr. Rosendale’s 
candidacy at the time, but Mr. Cox recalls that he may have said that the NRA anticipated that it 
would be engaged in the U.S. Senate election in Montana.21  (The words attributed to Mr. Cox in 
Mr. Rosendale’s statement above appear to be an after-the-fact paraphrasing.  Mr. Cox does not 
recall using those exact words.)  Mr. Cox did not indicate that this involvement would take any 
particular form, and Mr. Cox was in no way seeking Mr. Rosendale’s approval or permission.22  
Mr. Cox and Mr. Rosendale did not discuss any communications that the NRA, the NRA-PVF, 
or the NRA-ILA might make in connection with the 2018 U.S. Senate election in Montana.23  
Mr. Cox first learned of the comments attributed to Mr. Rosendale that are featured in the 
Complaint on or about September 13, 2018, when The Daily Beast published the article 
referenced above.24   

 
A. The Facts Do Not Evidence Either a “Suggestion” or an “Assent” 
 
The Complaint alleges that the communications to which Mr. Rosendale allegedly 

“assented” were television advertisements aired “in the midst of confirmation hearings for U.S. 
Supreme Court nominee Brett Kavanaugh [and] criticized Tester for his votes on Supreme Court 
nominees.”25  The advertisement informed viewers about Senator Tester’s record in Washington, 
DC, and noted that “in Montana he says he supports gun rights, but in Washington, DC, his votes 
tell a different story.”26  The advertisement stated that “[i]n all three votes on Supreme Court 
justices [Justices Kagan, Sotomayor, and Gorsuch], Tester sided with Chuck Schumer and the 
anti-gun liberal left, against your right to self-defense.”     
 

                                                 
15 Id. at ¶ 5.   
16 Id. at ¶ 6.   
17 Id. at ¶ 7.   
18 Id.   
19 Id. at ¶ 8.   
20 Id. at ¶ 9.   
21 Id.   
22 Id.   
23 Id. at ¶ 10.   
24 Id. at ¶ 11. 
25 Complaint at ¶ 13.   
26 The “Two Faces” advertisement is available at https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=AuqwhCm_MZs.     
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According to the Complaint, Mr. Rosendale said to an unidentified individual: “Chris 
Cox told me – he was like, ‘well, we’re gonna be in this race.’”27  (As noted above, this 
statement appears to be an after-the-fact paraphrasing.)  Mr. Rosendale also allegedly said, “I 
fully expect the NRA is gonna come in.  I think both of them [the NRA and the U.S. Chamber] 
are coming in, probably right here in August, sometime.”28  Mr. Rosendale allegedly made these 
statements at a July 2018 event, the following month after he and Mr. Cox spoke briefly.  The 
Complainant does not allege that Mr. Cox or any other NRA representative was present at the 
July 2018 event.  Furthermore, in the language quoted above, Mr. Rosendale said that he 
expected “the NRA is gonna come in.  I think both of them are coming in, probably right here in 
August.  Sometime.”  The advertisements that are the subject of this Complaint were distributed 
in September, which demonstrates that Mr. Rosendale had no actual knowledge of the NRA’s 
advertising plans.    

 
The Complainant claims that Mr. Rosendale’s statements demonstrate that he “assented” 

to Mr. Cox’s earlier “suggestion” “that the NRA-ILA planned to pay for the communications.”29  
Specifically, this “assent” came in the form of “Rosendale’s favorable reference to this planned 
activity on his behalf in response to a question about spending by ‘outside groups.’”30  In other 
words, it is the Complainant’s theory that when Mr. Cox allegedly stated that the NRA 
anticipated that it would be involved somehow in the U.S. Senate election in Montana, this was a 
“suggestion” that invited a response, rather than a simple statement of fact.  Mr. Rosendale then 
conveyed his response (the “assent”) to this “suggestion” not to Mr. Cox or any other 
representative of the NRA, and not even contemporaneously, but rather, to some other individual 
who asked him a question at a later date.  Mr. Rosendale’s supposed “assent” was captured on an 
audio recording that Mr. Rosendale may or may not have known about.  Under the 
Complainant’s theory, Mr. Rosendale must have hoped that his “favorable reference” would 
somehow be conveyed back to Mr. Cox.  The audio of Mr. Rosendale’s comments was 
publicized by The Daily Beast one week after the advertisements at issue in this Complaint were 
distributed.  Mr. Cox first learned of Mr. Rosendale’s comments from The Daily Beast article.31  
Thus, the Complainant’s theory must be that Mr. Rosendale’s “assent” became retroactively 
effective when Mr. Cox learned of Mr. Rosendale’s comments when they were published by The 
Daily Beast one week after the advertisements at issue were already distributed in Montana.  (In 
response to the legal theory presented in this Complaint, former Commissioner Smith wrote in a 
list-serv email exchange: “This is the stupidest argument I've seen on campaign finance this 
cycle.  I literally laughed out loud when I was first told about it.”)   

 
Aside from claiming an impossible coordination scheme that defies the timeline of 

events, the Complainant fails to explain how the described conduct actually satisfies any conduct 
standard.  Mr. Cox’s statement was not a “suggestion” that the NRA could finance advertising if 
the candidate was amendable.  It was simply a statement of fact that that the NRA anticipated 
that it would be engaged somehow in the U.S. Senate election in Montana.  Mr. Rosendale’s later 
comment to a different person in a semi-private setting was not in any way a response to Mr. 

                                                 
27 Complaint at ¶ 11.   
28 Id. at ¶ 10.   
29 Id. at ¶ 56.   
30 Id. at ¶ 59.   
31 Affidavit of Christopher Cox at ¶ 11. 
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Cox’s statement the previous month, and accordingly, cannot possibly constitute an “assent.”  
Finally, Mr. Rosendale’s supposed “assent” did not become known to Mr. Cox until after the 
advertising to which Mr. Rosendale was supposedly assenting had already been distributed.  
There is not a single aspect of the Complainant’s theory that withstands scrutiny.                                                  
 

B. The “Assent” Standard 
 

Commission regulations provide that the “request or suggestion” standard may be 
satisfied two ways:   
 

First, the third party may create, produce, or distribute a communication “at the request 
or suggestion of a candidate, authorized committee, political party committee, or agent of the any 
of the foregoing.”  11 C.F.R. § 109.21(d)(1)(i).  This is the “most direct form of coordination, 
given that the candidate … communicates desires to another person who effectuates them.”32   
 

Second, the third party may suggest the creation, production, or distribution of the 
communication to the candidate, and the candidate then assents to the suggestion.33  According 
to the Commission, this standard is “intended to prevent circumvention of the statutory ‘request 
or suggestion’ test … by, for example, the expedient of implicit understandings without a formal 
request or suggestion.”34  The Commission acknowledged in 2003 “that the assent of a candidate 
may take many different forms,” but disputed “that a standard encompassing assent to a 
suggestion is overly complex.  Assent to a suggestion is merely one form of a request; it is ‘an 
expression of a desire to some person for something to be granted or done.”35  Notwithstanding 
these assurances, Commission regulations do not define the term “assent” or provide any 
examples of conduct that constitutes an “assent” to a “suggestion.”   
 

The Commission added that the “assent” standard is not inconsistent with FEC v. 
Christian Coalition and that it had not “propose[d] that coordination could result where a payor 
‘merely informs’ a candidate or political party committee of its plans.”36  In Christian Coalition, 
the court rejected a coordination finding where “the Coalition advised the campaign of its plans 
for the volume of voter guides – 40 million – planned for the 1992 election,” “[b]ut campaign 
staff did not initiate a discussion or negotiation in response.”37   
 

Mr. Cox’s statement indicating that the NRA anticipated that it would be engaged 
somehow in the U.S. Senate election in Montana was not a “request” or a “suggestion.”  A 
“request” is something that is asked for.  A “suggestion” is something introduced for 
consideration, or something offered as a possibility.  Mr. Cox’s statement was neither – it was a 
statement of fact or intention that served to “merely inform” another individual of that fact or 
intention.  On its face, Mr. Cox’s statement did not ask for anything, or seek any form of 

                                                 
32 Final Rule on Coordinated and Independent Expenditures, 68 Fed. Reg. 421, 432 (Jan. 3, 2003). 
33 11 C.F.R. §109.21(d)(1)(ii); Final Rule on Coordinated and Independent Expenditures, 68 Fed. Reg. at 432.    
34 Id. at 432.   
35 Id. (citing Black’s Law Dictionary, definition of “request”).   
36 Id. at 432.   
37 FEC v. Christian Coalition, 52 F.Supp. 2d 45, 94 (D.D.C. 1999).   
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permission or approval from Mr. Rosendale.  There is no indication that any response was 
solicited or given at all. 

   
If no request or suggestion is made, then no “assent” to a request or suggestion is possible 

under 11 C.F.R. § 109.21(d)(1)(ii).  The regulation presumes that two things must happen, in 
order: (i) one party asks (the request or suggestion) and then (ii) the other party answers (the 
assent).  The Explanation and Justification explains that the “assent” standard is intended to 
prevent circumvention of the “request or suggestion” standard, and that “assent” may be 
conveyed implicitly.38  Even assuming that “assent” may be conveyed implicitly or indirectly, at 
least in some circumstances, an “assent” must necessarily take the form of a response to the 
person making the suggestion, and an “assent” must necessarily be conveyed to that person 
before he or she creates, produces, and distributes the allegedly coordinated communications.    

 
Even if we assume for the sake of argument that Mr. Cox’s statement could be construed 

as a “request” or “suggestion,” which it was not, the Complaint does not contain any facts 
suggesting that Mr. Rosendale in any way “assented” to Mr. Cox’s statement.  “Assent” means 
“agreement, approval, or permission.”39  Black’s Law Dictionary includes the following usage of 
“assent”: “The requirement of ‘assent,’ which is fundamental to the formation of a binding 
contract, implies in a general way that both parties to an exchange shall have a reasonably clear 
conception of what they are getting and what they are giving up.”40     

 
The statement that the Complainant identifies as the manifestation of “assent” was a 

statement made to some other person at some other time under circumstances where there was no 
reasonable expectation that Mr. Cox or any other NRA official would ever learn of the statement.  
In fact, Mr. Cox did not learn of Mr. Rosendale’s comments until after the NRA-ILA produced 
and distributed the advertising in Montana.  It seems readily apparent that neither Mr. Cox nor 
Mr. Rosendale had any idea they were involved in any sort of “exchange.”  Mr. Cox’s statement 
did not solicit a reply, and Mr. Rosendale’s statements were in no way a response to Mr. Cox or 
the NRA, or even directed to them.  Even The Daily Beast article on which the Complainant 
relies acknowledges, “Rosendale did not recount his reply to Cox in response to the questioner, 
meaning he could claim that no such assent was offered.”   
 

C. Advisory Opinion Request 2016-12  
 
The Complainant argues that draft responses to an Advisory Opinion Request supports its 

position even though the Commission issued a close-out letter without adopting any response.  
The varying draft responses to Advisory Opinion Request 2016-12 make clear that very different 
facts were at issue.  Draft A explained,  
 

Citizen Super PAC has worked with a vendor to produce a video expressly 
advocating the election of a federal candidate.  It has created a webpage on which 
persons may view that video advertisement alongside a donation button to 
effectuate Citizen Super PAC’s detailed distribution strategy.  Citizens Super 

                                                 
38 Final Rule on Coordinated and Independent Expenditures, 68 Fed. Reg. at 432.   
39 Black’s Law Dictionary (7th ed. 1999), p. 111 (definition of “assent”).   
40 Id. 
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PAC proposes to now email the candidate to ask that he notify his supporters 
about the advertisement, and that he solicit contributions in support of the 
advertisement’s paid distribution.41   

 
The facts alleged in the Complaint are not remotely comparable.  NRA-ILA did not 
create an advertisement and share it with Mr. Rosendale so that Mr. Rosendale could 
promote it with his supporters and ask them to fund it. 
 
 During the Commission’s consideration of the Request on October 27, 2016, it 
was observed that no prior advisory opinions or enforcement matters had considered what 
constitutes “assent” to a request or suggestion.  The Commission’s 3-3 votes on two draft 
responses do not purport to provide an answer to that question. 
 

The Commission’s consideration of Advisory Opinion Request 2016-12 does not 
support the Complainant’s position.  As noted above, the Requestor in that matter 
proposed to create an advertisement, share that advertisement with a federal candidate, 
and perhaps ask the candidate to assist with promotion, distribution, and fundraising for 
that advertisement.  There was considerable confusion about what exactly the Requestor 
proposed, and if “all six Commissioners agreed” on some general restatement of the law, 
as the Complainant asserts, that agreement does not shed any light on the present matter. 

 
 

IV. Conclusion 
 
 For the reasons set forth above, this Complaint should be dismissed.  There is no 
evidence in support of the Complainant’s allegations that the Respondents engaged in any 
form of coordination under the Act or the Commission’s regulations, and the legal 
theories advanced by the Complainants lack all credibility. 
 
      Sincerely, 
 
 
 
      Jason Torchinsky 
      Michael Bayes 
      Jessica Furst Johnson 
 
Attachments 

 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
41 Advisory Opinion Request 2016-12, Draft A at 5.   
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March 8, 2018

To: OnMessage, Inc.

From: Jessica Furst Johnson

Re: Internal Firewall Policy of OnMessage, Inc.

The purpose of this memorandum is to memorialize the implementation of an internal firewall 
policy adopted by OnMessage, Inc. (“OMI”), in advance of the 2018 elections.

OMI wishes to implement a firewall policy that satisfies and complies with the safe harbor 
requirements set forth at Federal Election Commission (FEC) regulation 11 C.F.R. § 109.22(h).  
By meeting these requirements, this policy will effectively prevent OMI personnel from 
conveying nonpublic, material information from one client to another and thereby prevent 
information obtained from one client from being used on behalf of another in a manner that may 
implicate the FEC’s coordination regulations.  

Accordingly, OMI has designed and implemented a firewall that will effectively prevent 
“common vendor” coordination, as that term is used at 11 C.F.R. § 109.21(d)(4), among OMI’s 
various clients.  

Specifically, this firewall is intended to prevent any OMI personnel (i) from conveying to a client 
who may produce and distribute public communications in connection with Election X, or (ii) 
using on that client’s behalf, any:

(a) information about the campaign plans, projects, activities, or needs of a second client 
who is a candidate in Election X, the second client’s election opponent, or a political 
party committee engaged in Election X, where that information is material to the 
creation, production, or distribution of the first client’s public communication; or

(b) information learned or used previously by OMI in the course of providing services to 
a candidate (or that candidate’s opponent) where that candidate is now clearly identified 
in the public communication of another client, and the information is material to the 
creation, production, or distribution of the client’s public communication.

In furtherance of this firewall policy, the principals of OMI have taken steps to “firewall” (or 
“silo”) certain clients to ensure that work and services are provided to those clients only by 
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specific OMI employees who will not share sensitive information regarding their firewalled 
clients with other OMI employees.   
 
Please reference the 2018 OMI Firewall Chart, attached to this firewall policy.  
 
With respect to each race, no OMI employee will provide work and services to clients in more 
than one category. Clients in Category 3 have been determined not to present a coordination risk 
with respect to other clients in that same category, and therefore an OMI employee may work 
with multiple clients in Category 3 who are active in the same race.     
 
One or more OMI employees may have administrative duties that involve providing services to, 
or in support of, clients that are involved in the same race in more than one category.  These 
employees will not perform work or services that involve creative or strategic decisions 
regarding the creation, production, or distribution of public communications, and will not convey 
information regarding any such creative or strategic decisions from one principal to another. 
 
This policy is intended to supplement and reinforce OMI’s existing policies regarding the safe-
guarding of client confidences and OMI’s existing commitment to maintaing the highest 
professional standards. 
 
OMI will consult regularly with counsel regarding the continued maintenance of its firewall 
policy, and this policy is subject to revision as a result of the addition or subtraction of clients.   
 
This policy will be shared, as appropriate, with all current and future affected employees, 
consultants, vendors, independent contractors, and clients. 
 
If you have any questions about this policy, you should contact Graham Shafer.  

Please sign and date this policy statement acknowledging that you have read and understand the 
Policy Statement.  Return the signed copy to Sarah Binion by March 15, 2018.  An additional 
copy can be provided for your records.  

I have read and understand this policy statement:   

 

Signature:  ______________________________________ 

 

Print Name:  _______________________________________ 

 

Date:   _______________________________________ 
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